STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAY 31 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BARRY EUGENE LAFAVOR,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000568

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
FILED UNDER SEAL

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by denying Appellant's motion for a continuance to allow sufficient time for defense counsel to properly investigate Department of Social Services (DSS) records involving the minor complainants and their family?

2.

Whether the court erred by refusing to grant a mistrial where the solicitor argued in closing that the jury should convict Appellant out of anger towards the minor complainants' parents for allowing Appellant to be around the children, and if the jury was not angry, it should acquit Appellant since this highly improper argument violated Appellant's right to due process?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the April 4, 2013 term of General Sessions for second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, criminal solicitation of a minor, and three counts of third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 269-278. His case was called to trial on June 24, 2013 before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles, and a jury. R. 17. Assistant Solicitors Ashley Agnew and Samuel B. Grimes, Jr. represented the state, and Michael D. Routzong represented Appellant. R. 17.

On June 26, 2013, the jury acquitted Appellant of criminal solicitation of a minor, second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and one count of third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, but found him guilty of the remaining two counts of third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 253, 1. 7 – 254, 1. 4. Judge Nettles sentenced Appellant to two concurrent sentences of fifteen years imprisonment suspended upon the service of ten years imprisonment and five years probation. Appellant was also ordered to register as a sex offender, undergo sex offender counseling upon his release from incarceration, and be subject to lifetime GPS monitoring pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-540. R. 258, 1. 10 – 259, 1. 3.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Minor 1, who was between the ages of eleven and twelve at the time of these allegations, and Minor 2, who was between the ages of ten and eleven, lived in a mobile home with their mother, Allison Whittle, their mother's partner, Susan Lukowiak, their younger brother and sister, and occasionally a few other individuals. See R. 34, ll. 22-25; R. 59, ll. 17-18; R. 78, ll. 17-20; R. 79, ll. 15-21. Both Whittle and Lukowiak were disabled and did not work. R. 198, ll. 5-8.

Sometime before the spring of 2011, their family home was destroyed by a fire and replaced by a new mobile home on the same property. R. 80, ll. 1-11. After the fire, Appellant's cousin, Marie Scott, who was friends with the family, asked Appellant to help the family due to their unfortunate circumstances. Appellant testified that he reluctantly agreed and bought each family member new clothing and other needed supplies. R. 182, l. 17 – 183, l. 11. He eventually moved in with the family to help pay the bills, maintain the home, and take care of the four children. R. 183, ll. 12-21.

Investigator Kim Sievers of the Aiken County Sheriff's Office testified that she first became involved in this case when she was asked to respond to Greendale Elementary School in reference to "accusations of some sexual abuse" involving Minor 1 and Minor 2's younger brother. As a result of these accusations, Sievers interviewed all four children in the family, including Minor 1 and Minor 2. Of the four children, Minor 1 was the only child who "disclosed sexual abuse." R. 140, l. 8 – 141, l. 5. After Minor 1 disclosed on May 1, 2012, Sievers referred the children to the Child Advocacy Center for a forensic interview and told their mother, Allison Whittle, that the children were to have no contact with Appellant until the allegations could be investigated. R. 142, ll. 5-13.

All four children were interviewed at the Child Advocacy Center on May 11, 2012 and all four, including Minor 1, denied any form of sexual abuse. "Due to no disclosure at that point," Sievers closed the case. R. 142, l. 20 – 143, l. 5. However, the investigation was reopened on June 20, 2012 when Sievers received a telephone call from Minor 1's counselor at Aiken Barnwell Mental Health, Sherry Pattillo, who indicated Minor 1 was again alleging sexual abuse. R. 144, ll. 2-9. That same day, Sievers spoke to both the children's mother, Allison Whittle, and Appellant and told them that the investigation had been reopened and that Appellant was to have no contact with the children until the allegations could be investigated. R. 144, ll. 13-20.

Minor 1, Minor 2, and their younger sister were again seen at the Child Advocacy Center on July 30, 2012 for a second forensic interview. R. 145, ll. 15-24. While Minor 1 disclosed sexual abuse, Minor 2 again denied she had ever been improperly touched. R. 148, ll. 23-25. Despite Minor 1's disclosure during this second forensic interview in July, Sievers took no action. It was not until October 15, 2012, when Sievers learned Appellant had allegedly sent Minor 2 flowers at her school that Sievers decided to obtain warrants for Appellant's arrest regarding the allegations made by Minor 1. Appellant was ultimately arrested on October 16, 2012. R. 146, l. 11 – 147, l. 13.

On November 14, 2012, Minor 2 was again seen at the Child Advocacy Center. During this third forensic interview, despite denying on *three* prior occasions that she had ever been improperly touched, Minor 2 "disclosed sexual abuse." R. 147, l. 19 – 148, l. 5. As a result, Sievers obtained additional warrants for Appellant. R. 149, ll. 6-8.

Minor 1 testified that Appellant "bad touched" her on her "private area" with his hand approximately five times while she was in the sixth grade. She claimed this happened

in the back bedroom of their mobile home and in the living room while everyone else was sleeping. R. 39, l. 12 – 41, l. 10. Minor 1 further alleged that Appellant touched her with his hand underneath both her “night clothes” and her “panties” and would “sometimes” go “on the inside” of her private area with his hand. R. 41, l. 11 – 42, l. 3. While she denied that Appellant had ever asked or made her touch him anywhere, she claimed Appellant asked her to “[m]ake love to him.” R. 43, ll. 13-23.

Minor 2 similarly claimed Appellant “bad touched” her on her “private area” with his hand when she was in the fourth grade. She alleged this happened in one of the beds in the living room at her house during the night while everyone else was sleeping. R. 65, l. 4 – 67, l. 4. Minor 2 testified Appellant touched her in her private area about “three or four times,” each time on top of her shorts and panties. She denied that he ever touched her underneath her clothing. R. 67, l. 11 – 68, l. 17. Minor 2 claimed she told her mother about the alleged touching, but her mother did “nothing” about it. R. 69, ll. 3-11.

Susan Lukowiak, Allison Whittle’s partner, testified that even after these allegations surfaced, she and Whittle continued to allow Appellant to live in the family home and have contact with the children “because [they] needed help with the bills.” R. 91, l. 22 – 92, l. 5. Lukowiak also admitted that when Minor 1 first claimed Appellant had touched her she told Investigator Sievers that Minor 1 was lying because she wanted Appellant “kicked out of the house.” R. 91, ll. 1-8; R. 97, l. 14 – 12.

Appellant denied ever improperly touching Minor 1 or Minor 2. R. 190, l. 18 – 191, l. 8. He testified that he helped support the children and had bought Minor 1, Minor 2, and their younger sister a cell phone, but that Minor 1 was upset because she did not like the telephone Appellant had bought her and wanted an “open face phone.” When Appellant

refused to buy Minor 1 another telephone, Minor 1 told him, “[I]f [he] did not buy her an open face telephone that she was going to tell somebody that [he] touched her.” It was shortly after Minor 1 made this threat that she claimed Appellant had improperly touched her. R. 186, l. 5 – 187, l. 11.

There was no physical evidence of sexual abuse presented to the jury. Therefore, the case depended solely on the credibility of Minor 1, Minor 2, and Appellant. After three hours of deliberation, the jury ultimately acquitted Appellant of criminal solicitation of a minor, second degree CSC with a minor, and one count of third degree CSC with a minor, but found him guilty of the remaining two counts of third degree CSC with a minor. R. 253, l. 7 – 254, l. 4.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by denying Appellant's motion for a continuance to allow sufficient time for defense counsel to properly investigate Department of Social Services (DSS) records involving the minor complainants and their family.

Motion for Continuance

In March 2013, Appellant's trial counsel subpoenaed the DSS records pertaining to Minor 1 and Minor 2. About a week later, a representative of DSS moved to quash the subpoena in Family Court. R. 2, ll. 8-11. On May 21, 2013, a hearing was held before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III in the Court of General Sessions on the motion to quash. R. 1. Assistant Solicitor Ashley Agnew represented the state at this hearing, and Amanda F. Whittle was present on behalf of DSS. R. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Early ordered all the DSS records pertaining to Minor 1, Minor 2, and their family be delivered to him to review *in camera* and determine whether the records were relevant or material to Appellant's defense. R. 8, ll. 14-25; R. 11, l. 25 – 12, l. 25; R. 21, ll. 3-6.

At noon on Thursday, June 20, 2013, less than four days before Appellant's trial began on Monday, June 24, 2013, Judge Early released a copy of the records to Appellant's counsel and the assistant solicitor.¹ R. 21, ll. 6-13.

At the beginning of the trial, Appellant moved for a continuance to allow defense counsel adequate time to investigate the contents of the records and possibly hire an expert witness. Defense counsel stated that he subpoenaed the records in March to allow him

¹ It is unclear from the record whether Judge Early released all of the records or only the documents the court found to be relevant or material.

sufficient time to review the records and conduct a proper investigation. He maintained that four days was not enough time for him to properly review the records, which included about five hundred pages of documents, and determine which documents, if any, were relevant and material to the defense. R. 21, l. 8 – 22, l. 6. Counsel also stressed that there were clearly pages missing from the records and that he had been unable to obtain these missing pages. R. 21, l. 24 – 22, l. 1; R. 24, ll. 13-14.

Judge Nettles ultimately denied Appellant's motion for a continuance, but agreed to make the DSS records part of the record for purposes of appellate review. R. 24, ll. 15-20. The records were marked as Court's Exhibit No. 2 and held under seal. When ruling, the court stressed that defense counsel had an opportunity to review the records, and presumably relied on the assistant solicitor's assertion that it only took her a few hours to read all of the records. R. 22, ll. 7-8; R. 23, l. 24 – 24, l. 11.

Defense counsel renewed his motion for a continuance during the course of the trial. Counsel again argued that a continuance was needed to allow counsel the opportunity to "fully investigate the DSS records." Counsel maintained that four days was an inadequate amount of time to properly review the records and hire an expert witness. R. 162, ll. 10-25. Counsel presumably wanted an expert to explain to the jury the behavioral characteristics of children who have been sexually abused and the significance of prior allegations of sexual abuse made by the same child.² Judge Nettles ultimately denied the motion "pursuant to reasons stated previously." R. 163, ll. 18-19.

² The DSS records reveal that Minor 1 made prior allegations of sexual abuse against Gerald Carlisle, Jr., who is the father of Minor 1 and Minor 2's younger brother. See Court's Exhibit No. 2.

After the verdict, Appellant moved for a new trial based on the court's failure to grant a continuance to allow counsel an adequate "opportunity to fully examine the DSS records." Counsel again emphasized that four days, which included a weekend, was an insufficient amount of time to allow him to retain an expert or possibly subpoena an employee of DSS to testify during Appellant's case in chief.

Counsel sought an expert to testify about the significance of prior accusations of sexual abuse and how prior sexual trauma may affect a child's behavior. Specifically, counsel argued, "Your Honor, the issue would have been what an expert could have told us [about] the effect the prior abuse, clearly that happened before Mr. Lafavor [Appellant] had any contact with these children, the effects on Minor 1 that might have motivated her to, frankly, tell untruths in court." He also argued, "[T]he failure to grant a continuance hampered our ability to fully build the defense and to fully be prepared."

The Court again denied the motion without giving any further reasoning. R. 261, 1. 1 – 268, 1. 11.

Evidence Contained in the DSS Records

A review of the DSS records shows that Gerald Carlisle, Jr., the father of Minor 1 and Minor 2's younger brother and a longtime boyfriend of their mother Allison Whittle, was charged with seven counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and seven counts of lewd act upon a child in November 2007. As a condition of his bond for these charges, Carlisle was ordered to have no contact with Minor 1, Minor 2, and their

younger sister.³ The Department of Social Services opened an investigation during the summer of 2008 after the agency received a complaint that Carlisle was having contact with the children in violation of the conditions of his bond. See Court's Exhibit No. 2.

Moreover, the records show that Minor 1 accused Carlisle of sexually abusing her in July 2005. The records contain an intake form from DSS dated July 10, 2005 that states, "Reportedly, six yr. old [Minor 1] stated that her pee pee hurts and that her mom[']s boyfriend took her ([Minor 1]) to the bedroom with her ([Minor 1]) pants down . . ."⁴ This intake form further states that the mother, Allison Whittle, took Minor 1, Minor 2, and their younger sister to the emergency room when Minor 1 made the accusation against Carlisle, but when Whittle "found out how detailed the examination would be," she left the hospital with the girls before any examination could be completed.⁵ See Court's Exhibit No. 2.

This intake form is corroborated by an incident report from the Aiken County Sheriff's Office also dated July 10, 2005. The incident report states, "Victim [Minor 1] and Mother [Allison Whittle] had made allegations of fondling, touching, and digital insertion of Victim [Minor 1] by listed Subj. [Gerald Carlisle]." The report further states, "Victim had been brought to Aiken E.R. by Victim's Mother" but "Mother depart[ed] E.R. with Victim prior to DSS and ACSO arrival." See Court's Exhibit No. 2. A supplemental incident

³ Carlisle was convicted by a jury of four counts of lewd act upon a child and two counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. This Court affirmed his convictions and sentence. State v. Carlisle, 2013-UP-213 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 22, 2013). Upon information and belief, these convictions pertained to an unrelated complainant and did not involve Minor 1 or Minor 2.

⁴ A portion of this narrative is cut off on the edge of the page due to how it was copied. See Court's Exhibit No. 2.

⁵ Allison Whittle is almost exclusively referred to as Allison Mikell throughout the DSS records.

report dated July 11, 2005 states, "Mother stated that she believed Victim had been lying about incident in order to get attention." See Court's Exhibit No. 2.

Moreover, the DSS records show a pattern of physical neglect. Primarily, the children often did not have clean, weather and size appropriate clothing and shoes, and the family home was often dirty and unsanitary. The children, especially Minor 1, also had behavioral problems, suffered from ADHD, and acted out in school. Additionally, there were numerous reported incidents of domestic violence between the mother, Allison Whittle, and her longtime boyfriend, Carlisle. See Court's Exhibit No. 2.

Evidence Presented to Jury of Prior Allegations of Sexual Abuse

The court permitted defense counsel to briefly explore the prior allegations Minor 1 had made against Gerald Carlise, Jr. before the jury. This evidence was presented during the cross-examination of several witnesses, including Susan Lukowiak, Investigator Kim Sievers, and Sherry Pattillo.

During the cross-examination of Lukowiak, the following exchange took place between defense counsel and the witness:

Q: You're aware of the allegation that Gerald Carlyle molested [Minor 1]?

A: No, he did not. And her mother will tell you that herself.

R. 97, ll. 10-13.

During the cross-examination of Sherry Pattillo, who was Minor 1's therapist at Aiken Barnwell Mental Health, the following exchange took place between defense counsel and the witness:

Q: You were aware that there were prior allegations that she [Minor 1] made against other people other than Mr. Laffavor [Appellant]?

A: I believe I'd heard something about that. I can't really recall much about that because that was before I had seen her [Minor 1].

R. 137, ll. 15-19.

Lastly, during the cross-examination of Investigator Sievers, the following exchange took place between defense counsel and the witness:

Q: And you were aware that Marie Scott, there was an allegation that Marie Scott had molested [Minor 1]?

A: Yes. I don't have any details on that, but, yes that statement was made.

Q: [Minor 1] made that statement, didn't she?

A: I don't know.

Q: And you're aware that the father of [J.C], who was living in the house, Gerald Carlyle, were you aware that there was an allegation that [Minor 1] made against him?

A: No. I know there was an investigation involving Gerald Carlyle and that he was arrested on a case in reference to sexual, but I don't remember.

Q: He was in the house at the time, was he married to - -

A: I have no idea.

Q: But they were all living together, Gerald Carlyle, [Minor 1] - -

A: I don't know the answer to that.

Q: You're aware that Gerald Carlyle is now still in prison on a criminal sexual conduct?

A: I don't know that. I did hear that mentioned earlier, but I don't know.

Q: Are you aware that [Minor 1] said that her pee-pee hurt and her Mom's boyfriend took [Minor 1] to the bedroom with her and her pants were down. Her two sisters were in the house at the same time. Were you aware of any of those allegations?

A: I don't recall any of that.

R. 167, l. 2 - 168, l. 3.

Discussion

The court erred by denying Appellant's motion for a continuance to allow adequate time for defense counsel to properly investigate the DSS records involving Minor 1, Minor 2, and their family, and retain an expert witness to address and explain evidence contained in the records. Specifically, defense counsel sought an expert to help explain to the jury the impact prior allegations of sexual abuse may have on a complainant, including behavioral changes and knowledge of sexual activities.

"The denial of a motion for a continuance is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent a showing of an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice." State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing State v. Smith, 387 S.C. 619, 622, 693 S.E.2d 415, 417 (Ct.App.2010)). "An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." Meggett, 398 S.C. at 523, 728 S.E.2d at 496 (quoting State v. Geer, 391 S.C. 179, 189, 705 S.E.2d 441, 447 (Ct. App. 2010)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

In State v. Tanner, 299 S.C. 459, 462, 385 S.E.2d 832, 834 (1989), our Supreme Court restated the two primary factors considered when determining whether a motion for continuance is proper: (1) whether there was a showing of *any* other evidence on behalf of the defendant that *could* have been produced; and (2) whether *any* other points on his behalf *could* have been raised had more time been granted for the purpose of preparing the case for trial. Id. (quoting State v. Squires, 248 S.C. 239, 244, 149 S.E.2d 601, 603 (1966)). Therefore, if the defendant shows that any other evidence or points could have

been produced or raised on his behalf if he had more time to prepare his case for trial, then a motion for continuance should be granted.

Appellant has met both prongs of this analysis. If defense counsel had been given sufficient time to investigate and review the DSS records, counsel could have more fully explored the allegations Minor 1 had previously made against Gerald Carlisle, Jr. and presented this evidence to the jury to show a possible source of Minor 1's knowledge of sexual activities and what happens when one makes allegations of sexual abuse. See State v. Grovenstein, 340 S.C. 210, 219, 530 S.E.2d 406, 411 (Ct. App. 2000) ("evidence of a child victim's prior sexual experience is relevant to demonstrate that the defendant is not necessarily the source of the victim's ability to testify about alleged sexual conduct.").

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