ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County
Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-000568

RECEIVED
MAY 20 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

BARRY EUGENE LAFAVOR,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

J. STROM THURMOND, JR.
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 3368
Aiken, SC 29802
(803) 642-1557

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County
Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

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

present additional evidence regarding the prior allegation involving Carlisle, and the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by refusing to grant a continuance on that basis. See State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 459, 469 S.E.2d 49, 51 (1996) (“The trial court’s refusal of a motion for continuance in a criminal case will not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of discretion.”).

In further arguing the trial judge erred by refusing to grant a continuance, Appellant maintains the grant of a continuance would have permitted him to obtain the services of an expert witness to testify in regard to the effects prior sexual abuse may have on a juvenile victim and in regard to the effects the act of making a disclosure of sexual abuse may have on a child. However, while expert testimony in regard to the behavioral characteristics exhibited by juvenile victims of sexual abuse is unquestionably admissible in sexual abuse prosecutions, it is unclear how such testimony would have been relevant or beneficial to Appellant’s defense. See State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 218, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015) (recognizing expert testimony is admissible in regard to the behavioral characteristics commonly exhibiting by victims of sexual abuse); see also State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 474, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Expert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts is admissible.”).

Significantly, testimony regarding behaviors such as delayed disclosure or recantation would have **damaged** Appellant’s defense as opposed to have helped it in light of the fact defense counsel urged the jury during his closing argument to disbelieve the evidence presented during trial due to the fact the victims had either delayed or recanted their disclosures in Appellant’s case. See State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 342, 768 S.E.2d 246, 251 (Ct. App. 2015) (finding expert testimony regarding delayed disclosures was

admissible in a juvenile sexual abuse prosecution); see also John E. B. Myers, Expert Testimony in Child Sexual Abuse Litigation: Consensus and Confusion, 14 U.C. Davis J. Juv. L. & Pol'y 1, 45-46 (2010) (“Psychological research demonstrates that delayed reporting is common among sexually abused children. Frequently when children finally disclose, they give slightly different versions of the abuse to different interviewers. Finally, although there is debate about how many sexually abused children recant, it is undisputed that some children recant and some recant their recantation. Thus, from a psychological point of view, expert testimony about delay, inconsistency, and recantation is not controversial. From the legal perspective, such testimony is not worrisome.” (footnotes omitted)). Furthermore, testimony establishing the victims’ behavior was indicative of them being victims of sexual abuse at the hands of Appellant would certainly not have aided Appellant’s case while testimony suggesting the victims’ behavior was indicative of them being victims of sexual abuse at the hands of others would similarly have been unhelpful to Appellant because it would have in no way rebutted the evidence establishing Appellant **also** abused the victims. See State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 415, 605 S.E.2d 540, 544 (2004) (“The purpose of rape trauma evidence is to prove the elements of criminal sexual conduct since such evidence may make it more or less probable the offense occurred.”); State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 506, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (recognizing “both expert testimony and behavioral evidence are admissible as rape trauma evidence **to prove a sexual offense**” (emphasis added)). Finally, to the extent Appellant contends expert testimony could have been presented in regard to the effects the act of making a disclosure might have on a child, Appellant has failed to identify any authority of any kind demonstrating what such testimony would entail or how it would have been beneficial to his defense, and, therefore, he has failed to

demonstrate he was entitled to a continuance on that basis. See Yarborough, 363 S.C. at 266, 609 S.E.2d at 595 (“The party asking for the continuance must show due diligence was used in trying to procure the testimony of an absent witness as well as **set forth what the party believes the absent witness will testify to and the grounds for that belief.**” (emphasis added)).

Accordingly, for all the foregoing reasons, Appellant failed to meet his burden of establishing the trial judge’s refusal to grant a continuance constituted a prejudicial abuse of discretion. See Squires, 248 S.C. at 244, 149 S.E.2d at 603 (“It is well settled in this jurisdiction, as well as in most others, that the trial court’s refusal of a motion for continuance in a criminal case will not be disturbed in the absence of a **clear and conclusive** abuse of discretion.” (emphasis added)). As a result, there is no basis to disturb the trial judge’s decision on appeal. See State v. Motley, 251 S.C. 568, 572, 164 S.E.2d 569, 570 (1968) (“When a motion for a continuance is based upon the contention that counsel for the defendant has not had time to prepare his case its denial by **the trial court has rarely been disturbed on appeal.**” (emphasis added)); see also Calderon v. California, 525 U.S. 141, 146 (1998) (“The social costs of retrial or resentencing are significant. . . . The State is not to be put to this arduous task based on mere speculation that the defendant was prejudiced by trial error; the court must find that the defendant was actually prejudiced by the error.” (citations omitted)). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

II.

Any issue regarding the trial judge's refusal to grant a mistrial in response to remarks made by the solicitor during her closing argument was not properly preserved for appellate review because the trial judge issued a curative instruction at defense counsel's request in order to cure any prejudice that could have resulted from those remarks and no objection was raised to the sufficiency of that curative instruction until after the jury reached a verdict. However, notwithstanding any issue preservation concerns, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by declining to grant a mistrial under the circumstances of Appellant's case because the challenged portion of the solicitor's closing argument remarks did not render Appellant's trial fundamentally unfair when considered in the context of the record as a whole, and any prejudice that could have resulted from those remarks was eliminated through the issuance of a curative instruction to the jury.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by declining to grant a mistrial in response to remarks made by the solicitor during her closing argument. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the solicitor's closing argument remarks were inflammatory and invited the jury to convict him on an improper basis. Initially, any issue in regard to the trial judge's response to the solicitor's closing argument remarks was not properly preserved for appellate review because no objection was raised after the trial judge presented a curative instruction to the jury at defense counsel's behest in an effort to cure any prejudice that could have resulted from the undesirable remarks until after the jury reached a verdict in Appellant's case. However, even if the issue was somehow preserved for appellate review, the trial judge committed no error by declining to take the extreme step of granting a mistrial because the challenged portion of the solicitor's closing argument remarks did not render Appellant's trial fundamentally unfair when considered in the context of the record as a whole, and any prejudice that could have resulted from those remarks was cured by the trial judge's pointed curative instruction to the jury. Accordingly, under the circumstances, a mistrial was not warranted in Appellant's case. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

A. Issue Preservation

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). “Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” F’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

Regarding the requirement a timely objection be raised, a defendant must make a contemporaneous objection to a perceived error during trial in order to preserve the issue for further review. State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 79, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2003); see State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994) (“A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review.”). Thus, when a perceived error arises, the defendant must object at the first opportunity to do so or the issue is waived. State v. Sullivan, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993); see State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (“A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review.”); see also State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 157, n.1, 561 S.E.2d 640, 647 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[N]o objection was made contemporaneously with this testimony so as to preserve the issue for review. King's belated objection to subsequent testimony came

too late.”). Significantly, “[i]t is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time **in a post-trial motion.**” Bank of New York v. Sumter County, 387 S.C. 147, 159, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010) (emphasis added).

Moreover, the requirement a contemporaneous objection must be raised is applicable to situations in which a trial judge issues a curative instruction in response to a sustained objection as such instructions are ordinarily presumed to have cured any prejudice resulting from a trial error. State v. Brown, 389 S.C. 84, 95, 697 S.E.2d 622, 628 (Ct. App. 2010); see State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 658, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Generally, a curative instruction is deemed to have cured any alleged error.”). Thus, when a trial judge take steps to cure an error during trial, a defendant must object to the sufficiency of the trial judge’s curative measures in order to preserve any issue with the error for appeal. State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 316, 479 S.E.2d 517, 524 (Ct. App. 1996); see State v. Craig, 267 S.C. 262, 268, 227 S.E.2d 306, 309 (1976) (“Generally, the consideration of whether there was any prejudice requires that a motion for mistrial be made after the trial judge attempts to cure the error.”). Critically, if a defendant does not raise an objection to the sufficiency of a curative instruction during trial, no issue is preserved for appellate review. See State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 510, 476 S.E.2d 903, 912 (1996) (“No issue is preserved for appellate review if the objecting party accepts the judge’s ruling and does not contemporaneously make an additional objection to the sufficiency of the curative charge or move for a mistrial.”).

In the case at bar, defense counsel initially moved for a mistrial after the trial judge sustained his objection to remarks made by the solicitor during her closing argument, and the trial judge ultimately determined a mistrial was not warranted under the circumstances even though he believed the solicitor’s remarks to be improper.

Following the trial judge's ruling, defense counsel asked the trial judge to give a curative instruction to eliminate any possible prejudice that could have resulted from the improper argument remarks, and the trial judge agreed to do so after defense counsel proposed such an instruction. The trial judge then presented a curative instruction to the jury in regard to the solicitor's closing argument remarks as part of his jury instructions, and, after he concluded those instructions, defense counsel expressly confirmed he had **no** objections to them. Subsequently, defense counsel refrained from making any further arguments or objections regarding the solicitor's closing argument remarks or the sufficiency of the trial judge's curative measure until **after** the jury convicted Appellant of several of the indicted offenses. At that point, defense counsel argued Appellant was entitled to a new trial because no curative instruction – presumably including the one he personally proposed – could have cured the prejudice that resulted from the solicitor's closing argument remarks.

Now, on appeal, Appellant contends the trial judge erred by refusing to grant a mistrial in response to the solicitor's closing argument remarks, which he contends likely led the jury to convict Appellant on an improper basis. However, any issue regarding the trial judge's response to the solicitor's improper closing argument was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel sought and obtained a curative instruction to eliminate any prejudice that resulted from the improper argument and did not contemporaneously object to the sufficiency of that instruction after it was given. See Jones, 325 S.C. at 316, 479 S.E.2d at 524 (“[T]his issue is not preserved for review since Appellants did not object to the adequacy of the trial judge's curative instruction.”); see also George, 323 S.C. at 510, 476 S.E.2d at 912 (“No issue is preserved for appellate review if the objecting party accepts the judge's ruling and does not contemporaneously

make an additional objection to the sufficiency of the curative charge or move for a mistrial.”). Instead, defense counsel specifically indicated he had no objections after the curative instruction was presented to the jury and then waited until after the verdict to raise a challenge to the sufficiency of that curative measure. See State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 (2013) (holding Brown’s issue with a jury instruction was not preserved for appellate review where Brown explicitly stated to the trial judge he had no objection to the instruction); State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, ‘None.’ By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”); see also State v. Penland, 275 S.C. 537, 538, 273 S.E.2d 765, 766 (1981) (“One may not preserve a vice until he learns what the result will be and then, take advantage of the error on appeal.”); State v. Ballew, 83 S.C. 82, 87, 63 S.E. 688, 690 (1909) (“The general principle that a party can not take his chances of a successful issue, reserving vices in the trial, of which he has notice, for use in case of disappointment, is universally recognized and obviously just.”). Under those circumstances, any issue regarding the trial judge’s response to the solicitor’s closing argument remarks was not preserved for appellate review and cannot now be properly raised or addressed on appeal. Cf. Brown, 389 S.C. at 95, 697 S.E.2d at 628 (“If a trial court issues a curative instruction, a party must make a contemporaneous objection to the sufficiency of the curative instruction to preserve an alleged error for review. In the present case, the trial court issued a curative instruction and defense counsel failed to challenge the sufficiency of the curative instruction, making this issue [regarding the denial of a mistrial motion] unpreserved for review.” (citation omitted)). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

B. Propriety of the Trial Judge's Denial of the Mistrial Motion

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